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Abstract 

 

 

The campus of the National Training School for Women and Girls in Lincoln 

Heights, Washington, D.C., was the physical manifestation of a new ideology in technical 

and higher education for African American women. The National Training School, which 

opened in 1909 and operated until 1964,  is significant for being the first school for African 

American females to open outside of the Deep South, for being single-sex, for relying on 

African American benefactors for most of its funding, and for extending its curriculum 

beyond technical training to include the Liberal Arts and a Department of Negro History. 

This thesis examines how the campus evolved throughout the school’s lifetime (using Baist 

and Sanborn maps and pictures in the Library of Congress) and relate changes in the 

campus plan to the evolution of women’s education in general and education for African 

Americans specifically.  
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Designing a Campus for African-American Females:  

The National Training School for Women and Girls 1907 – 1964 

 

Preface 

 

My interest in the National Training School grew out of the Community History 

Workshop/Community Public History course taught by Professor Daniel Bluestone during 

the 2006-07 school year. The first members of UVa’s School of Architecture to study the 

Watts Branch area of northeast D.C. were professors Julie Bargmann and William 

Morrish in the work they did for Casey Trees, summer 2006, and I thank them for 

bringing this area of D.C. to Professor Dan Bluestone’s attention. 

Within the course on Watts Branch, I focused on Lincoln Heights. As I researched 

the neighborhood, the National Training School stood out as a site with national 

importance whose architectural history had not been written yet, so I decided to undertake 

it. Comparing the list of deeds for the neighborhoods of Watts Branch compiled by Prof. 

Bluestone to Baist and Sanborn maps, and National Training School records, I established 

as best I could when various buildings on the campus were constructed. I am thankful to 

Thomas Salaki, the member of the class who took on the task of putting all the lots along 

Watts Branch into ArcGIS, for letting me use his calculations to establish the acreage of the 

National Training School site. 

 All of Burroughs’s and the National Training School’s records and photographs 

were transferred to the Library of Congress between her death in 1961 and the school’s 

conversion to an elementary school in 1964. The photographs were helpful in attempting 

to establish the campus plan at different points in the school’s history. The manuscripts 

collection of 341 boxes was far too large for me to examine as thoroughly as I would have 
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liked, and so some of my questions remained unanswered. I am grateful to my classmates, 

my friend, and my parents for giving me rides between Charlottesville and D.C so I could 

research in the Library of Congress. 

I am also appreciative of Principal Rita O. Johnson and the other staff members of 

the Burroughs Elementary School for letting me look through their publications and glance 

at the display of artifacts from the National Training School located within the Burroughs 

Elementary School, and to the staff of the Progressive National Baptist Convention 

Headquarters for letting me poke around that building.  

Professor Daphne Spain’s book How Women Saved the City was my starting point 

for studying women’s movements that influenced the development of the National 

Training School, and her advice, along with that of Professor Richard Guy Wilson, was 

invaluable.  



 3

Designing a Campus for African-American Females:  

The National Training School for Women and Girls 1907 – 1964 

 

Introduction: ”I am not among the race immortals, rather I am just beginning to get my 

work under way”.1  

 

 The campus of the National Training School for Women and Girls in Lincoln 

Heights, D.C., (hereafter referred to as The National Training School) was the physical 

manifestation of a new ideology in technical and higher education for African American 

women. It shared the ideal of uplifting African-Americans through education with other 

schools for women, but it was unique in many ways. The National Training School was the 

first school for African-American females to open outside of the deep south. It was not co-

educational, as most schools for African Americans were. The National Training School 

was funded largely without white benefactors. And its curriculum extended beyond 

technical training to include a Department of Negro History.  

 While Nannie Helen Burroughs, the founder of the National Training School, has 

been studied before and is something of a local hero in Lincoln Heights, the neighborhood 

where her school was located, not much is known about the architectural history of the 

National Training School. None of the buildings from the school’s beginnings remain. 

When one visits the site today, all that remains from the National Training School is the 

Trades Hall (now the Progressive National Baptist Convention Headquarters) from 1927, a 

chapel from 1946, and a dormitory (now a community center) from 1956. The heart of the 

campus was torn down in 1971 to make way for the Nannie Helen Burroughs Baptist 

Elementary School. This thesis will examine how the campus evolved throughout the 

school’s lifetime (using Baist and Sanborn maps and pictures in the Library of Congress) 
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and relate changes in the campus plan to the evolution of women’s education in general 

and education for African Americans specifically.   

Nanniee Helen Burroughs was born to Jennie and John Burroughs on May 2, 

1879, in Orange, Virginia. Jennie moved Burroughs and her sister (who later died in 

childhood) to Washington, D.C., to take advantage of the schools there while John stayed 

behind in Virginia, where he worked as a preacher. In D.C., Jennie worked as a domestic. 

Burroughs had typhoid when she was 7 and ended up missing two years of school. She 

finished two grades a year over the next two years to catch up2. The African-Americans of 

the District of Columbia established a high school 9 years before a high school for 

Caucasians opened. At M Street High School, Burroughs was taught by Dr. Anna Julia 

Cooper and Mary Church Terrell, two African-American educators, social activists, and 

graduates of Oberlin, Burroughs would later be compared to after she herself became "a 

major figure in black women's secular and church organizations."3 Cooper and Terrell were 

among the first African-American educators to depart from the model established by 

Booker T. Washington with an increased focus on education that included the liberal arts 

and challenges to segregation.4 

After she graduated from high school, Burroughs (Image 1) applied for a job as an 

assistant to her former domestic science teacher. She was told she was too young, but some 

historians have suggested the real reason was that her skin was too dark and she didn't have 

the right family background. Positions in the black public schools were controlled by the 

District's "aristocrats of color", who had light complexions and came from the oldest black 

families in the area. Members of this group were accused of favoring society women for 

teaching positions and men for political office over perhaps more deserving applicants not 
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from their social circle. This tradition split African-American society within D.C., and 

between urban and rural areas. Many historians have also suggested that out of this 

experience grew Burroughs' dream of starting a school someday to “…give all sorts of girls a 

fair chance, without political pull”. In a letter to Booker T. Washington in 1896 asking 

about the employment opportunities at Tuskegee, Burroughs wrote “It broke me up at 

first. I had my life all planned out, to settle down in Washington with my mother, do that 

pleasant work, draw a good salary, and be comfortable for the rest of my life.”5 

Instead, Burroughs took a job as associate editor for The Christian Banner in 

Philadelphia. She returned to D.C. to take the civil service examination, but was told there 

were no openings for “colored clerks”. So Burroughs worked in a janitorial position in an 

office building while attending Washington Business College. After she graduated, 

Burroughs moved to Louisville, Kentucky, to work as bookkeeper and editorial secretary 

for Rev. L.G. Jordan, Corresponding Secretary and Historian for the National Baptist 

Convention’s Foreign Mission Board. It was here in 1900 at the age of 21, she founded the 

Women's Convention Auxiliary (WCA) to the National Baptist Convention (NBC) 

because that organization did not allow women to vote in decisions of the convention. S. 

Willie Layten was elected the first president of that organization, while Burroughs because 

the first corresponding secretary between the WCA and the NBC for a salary of $40 a 

month plus expenses6. Rev. Jordan gave the WCA office space in the Foreign Mission 

Board’s headquarters.  

In 1901, Burroughs introduced her idea of a new type of training school for African 

American females at the NBC's and WCA’s annual meeting in Richmond, Virginia, but it 

wasn’t until 1904 that President Layten officially endorsed the idea and the WCA 
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established a committee to obtain donors and pledges. That same year, Burroughs 

graduated with a M.A. from the Eckstein North Institute and became a member of the 

theological faculty at Louisville's State University (later Simmons University) for African- 

American women and men. She also founded the Women’s Industrial Club of Louisville 

to provide day and evening classes for women in bookkeeping, shorthand, typing, sewing, 

cooking, child-car, hygiene, sanitation, cleaning, and handicrafts. The club raised money to 

buy a house for classroom space and temporary housing for working women relocating to 

Louisville through a 10-cents-memership fee, selling lunches to African-American women, 

and holding bake sales. In these early endeavors, Burroughs was refining the ideas that 

would come to inform the National Training School. 

At the 1906 conventions of the WCA and NBC, a National Training School 

Committee was formed of 80 members representing both organizations, including WCA 

President Layten and NBC President Rev. Elias C. Morris. Burroughs, President Layten, 

President Morris, Rev. Jordan, Julia M. Layten, J.F. Walker, and A.R. Griggs formed a 

subcommittee to select the site. Unlike earlier schools for African-Americans (with the 

exception of Howard University), Burroughs wanted her school to attract students from 

across the U.S. Locating the National Training School in Washington, D.C., not only 

signified its national scope, it took advantage of the city’s unique characteristics. A study of 

housing for African Americans in Washington D.C. in the 1920's later cited by a national 

commission Burroughs headed at the request of President Hoover stated "Unlike most 

American cities, Washington has no specific geographical localization of its Negro 

population. Instead of a definitely bounded territory into which almost the entire Negro 
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population is crowded, there are scattered communities which distribute the Negro 

population throughout practically the entire city…"7  

Booker T. Washington, with whom Burroughs was often compared, thought even 

African-Americans in the district wouldn't support the school.8 Burroughs response was to 

declare, "We specialize in the wholly impossible."9 She was firm in the belief that a national 

school should be located in the nation's capital, to draw students from the north and south. 

Her school opened during the early days of the great migration, when thousands of 

African- Americans migrated from the south to eastern and midwestern cities, and the 

National Training school fit into a movement toward "redemptive places" (as Daphne Spain 

termed them) to educate these migrants (who were often from rural areas) about life in the 

city. "By the beginning of the twentieth century, the most visible urban poor were African 

Americans, with residential segregation and racial discrimination exacerbating their need 

for services".10 

Locating the school in D.C. also took advantage of the employment opportunities 

with government officials for women there. Some African American leaders objected to the 

National Training School on the basis that it was making breadwinners out of women, but 

Burroughs implored members of the black community, especially black males, to '…stop 

making slaves and servants of our women. We've got to stop singing nobody works but the 

father'."11 

Only Jordan, Julia Layton, and Burroughs were present at the January 1907 

meeting incorporating the National Training School for Women and Girls with the written 

consent from those absent. The land and charter for the National Training School was 

secured in Washington, D.C., under a deed-in-trust headed by Burroughs. The land cost 
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$6,500, "…funded almost entirely by donations from blacks, mainly through the Baptist 

Women's Convention. Whites were solicited for donations after the first buildings were 

constructed, but at no point did the school's existence depend on white funding."12 The 

charter declared the school grounds to be the property of the Board of Trustees, an 

independent organization from the WCA and NBC, although the presidents and 

secretaries of both conventions would be ex-officio members of the board. The charter also 

required that a majority of the members of the board of trustees be women and declared 

the school to be non-denominational. 

On September 14, 1907, the Training School Committee, which became the first 

board of trustees, dedicated the site. None of the Ex-Officio members were present13. 

Burroughs ended her association with State University and moved to D.C., although she 

retained her position as corresponding secretary for the WCA. On October 10, 1909, the 

National Training School opened with Burroughs as President, five assistant teachers in 

three departments (Normal/Teaching, Missionary Work, and Domestic Science), seven 

students, and a matron to oversee the dormitory. By the time the first school year ended, 

enrollment had increased to 32 students and over $3,000 (including $405.51 from the 

WCA) had been raised.14  

Burroughs was also a member of the National Association of Colored Women 

(NACW) and eventually became an officer of that organization. The WCA and NACW 

shared offices in many locations and attended each other's conventions. "One of the 

clearest examples of collaborative effort between the two organizations was the National 

Training School for Women and Girls. The school was technically controlled by the 

WC[A], but local branches of the NACW contributed money for its maintenance."15  
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Designing a Campus for African-American Females:  

The National Training School for Women and Girls 1907 – 1964 

 

Chapter One: “We will build the women if our friends will give to build the buildings”.1 

 

For most of the 1800’s, public schooling ended at a middle school level. Most 

Caucasian upper-class women were educated at home until as teenagers they could attend 

finishing school where they learned everything necessary for being hostesses and 

companions: literature, penmanship, music, fine needlework, and French.2 The 1830’s saw 

the spread of Academies offering the equivalent of a high-school education, followed by 

Seminaries for teacher training, one of the few careers historically open to women. 

Bethlehem Female Seminary, founded by the Moravians in Germantown, Pennsylvania, in 

1742, was the first school for the higher education of women in the U.S. Although Oberlin 

College (1833), Antioch College (1853), and Bates College (1855) were all coeducational 

from the time of their funding, this was the exception rather than the rule, and it was 

accepted practice for Caucasian men and women to be separated for education beyond 

middle school. “By 1870, the United States Commissioner of Education estimated that 

11,000 women currently attended seminaries or colleges.”3 The vast majority of them 

(8,000) were in schools following the seminary model. After graduation, the only 

professional careers women could pursue were teaching or missionary work, and that was 

only if they were single. Although some organizations allowed women to continue this work 

after marriage, they weren’t eligible for employment if they had children. Many women 

turned to voluntary organizations such as the YMCA, Settlement Houses, Tenement 

reform groups, women’s clubs, Temperance Groups, NACW, and WCA.  
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As it was illegal to teach an enslaved African-American - and in Virginia free blacks 

and mulattos as well - formal education remained largely a Caucasian realm until the Civil 

War. Hampton University (founded as Hampton Institute in Hampton, Virginia) traces its 

beginnings to classes taught by Mary S. Peake in 1861 in defiance of the ban on teaching 

African-Americans. A graduate of the Hampton Institute, Booker T. Washington founded 

the Tuskegee Institute in 1881. Institutes differed from Academies and Seminaries in that 

they offered technical training as well. Unlike most Academies and Seminaries for 

Caucasians, which were usually either all-male or all-female, most African American 

Institutes were co-educational. Howard University, established in Washington, D.C. by an 

act of Congress in 1867, was also co-educational from its beginnings. Jubilee Hall at Fisk 

University in Nashville, Tennessee, constructed 1873-6, is” reputedly the oldest permanent 

building for the higher education of Negroes in the United States”.  The Haines Normal 

(the word for a teacher’s school at the time) and Industrial Institute, founded by Lucy Craft 

Lanay in Augusta, Georgia, in 1886 was the first all-female African-American technical 

school, the type of school Burroughs founded.  

Catherine Esther Beecher, daughter of outspoken Presbyterian leader Lyman 

Beecher founded the Hartford Female Seminary in 1831 to provide females with a broader 

education than she felt she had received in the school available to women at the time. (One 

of her first pupils was her sister, Harriet Beecher [Stowe].) In 1841 Beecher published A 

Treatise on Domestic Economy for the Use of Young Ladies at Home and at School, a 

book that discussed the underestimated importance of women’s roles in society and 

founded the field of Domestic Science. To further educational opportunities for women, 

Beecher founded The American Woman’s Educational Association, The Ladies Society 
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for Promoting Education in the West, the Western Female Institute in Cincinnati (along 

with her father) and women’s colleges in Burlington, Iowa, Quincy, Illinois, and 

Milwaukee, Wisconsin. Among middle and upper class woman, domestic science merged 

with the cult of domesticity, in which homemaking was seen as an expression of feminine 

virtue. “Minister’s Sermons and articles in the new women’s magazines, such as Gedley’s 

Lady’s Book, encouraged a new self-consciousness about women’s special nature and 

destiny”5. Among the working class, the 1862 Land Grant College Act, commonly known 

after its congressional sponsor Senator Justin Morril, promoted the teaching of Domestic 

Science to women and Agricultural Science to men at land grant colleges6. Iowa, Kansas, 

Nebraska, Illinois, Minnesota and Michigan were early leaders in offering programs for 

women. Graduates of these programs helped to develop the next incarnation of this type of 

education for women: Home Economics. Ada Louis Comstock, Dean of Women at the 

University of Minnesota from 1907 – 1912, became the Dean of Smith College.  

Ellen Swallow Richards, the first woman to attend MIT, the first female instructor 

at that school, and the first woman in the U.S. to receive a degree in chemistry, applied 

scientific principles to domestic situations. She designed the Rumford Kitchen for the 1893 

World’s Fair, which served fair goers nutrition information along with their meals. At the 

end of the decade, Richards convened a meeting with her contemporaries at Lake Placid, 

New York to discuss how to turn efficient home management into a profession. Richards 

coined the term “Euthenics” in her 1905 book The Cost of Shelter. Derived from the 

Greek verb "euthenein", which means to thrive or flourish, Richards defined Euthenics as 

“the science of better-living” and from this grew the field of home economics7, the 
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professionalizing of a career working-class women have always pursued: home-making. 

This was the technical side of colleges and institutes founded for women during this time. 

Caucasian women’s colleges faced the conundrum of how to protect their students’ 

virtue from city life, while at the same time not isolating them so much that they lost the 

connection to daily, practical life8. Lincoln Heights is located in area of D.C. called Watts 

Branch (Image 41 shows it in relation to the rest of D.C.). Located across the Anacostia 

River northeast of the mall, it was still a rural area at the beginning of the 20th century. The 

rural character of Lincoln Heights, and the National Training School’s location on a hill, 

allowed for a semi-secluded location where the students’ morals could be retained, while 

the stream and railroad at the bottom of the hill allowed for the school to establish a store 

and laundry connecting them to the community.. Burroughs said of the site, “Somehow I 

felt the school had to be set on a hill. It was all red gullies up here and a site to see, with a 

dilapidated eight-room house atop of it all; but there were six acres of land and this 

beautiful view.”9 

Free Blacks first began to settle in Lincolnville (as Lincoln Heights was sometimes 

known until the 1930's) in the years following the Civil War. In 1883 construction began on 

the Chesapeake Beach (Southern Maryland) Railroad line to the north of what would 

become the site for the school, followed in 1902 by the Columbia Railroad and Trolley 

line for street cars, which bisected the northern part of the site. Watt's Branch Stream (also 

known as Watt's Run through the 1930's) and a tributary ran through the eastern and 

northern parts of the site as well. The 1903 Baist map (Image 3) shows how Watt's Branch 

influenced the laying out of plot lines in this area. In 1900, a few blocks of residential lots 

were plotted west of 50th street (Bloomberg Park and Glendale subdivisions), and to the 
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east of Division Street (East Deanwood and Grant Park). By 1910, Manning Heights, and 

Hillbrook had been laid out between Minnesota Avenue and 50th Street  and Linwood 

Heights filled in the space between Grant Park and Division Street (see Image 4).  

Siting the school in an established African American neighborhood, but within an 

area that was, like the city as a whole, racially mixed probably held some attraction for 

Burroughs, who attempted to instill some racial pride in her students. "The department of 

Negro History was one of the few at any school that required students to take black history 

courses and to pass both oral and written exams on the subject."  Furthermore, this 

particular site allowed the school to take advantage of Christian imagery by being situated 

on the top of a hill. In fact, the National Training School was often referred to as "the 

School on the hill" or even "god's school on the hill".  

In the July 1907 Deed signed by Burroughs and Julia M. Layton, they agreed to 

buy most of section 5 of block 5192 for the National Training School. This land was 

purchased from Peter W. and Julia B. Price and encompassed lot 34 (later known as lot 

84) who’s northern edge was defined by Watts Branch (see Image 2, 1903 Baist map), lot 

33 (later known as 814) running from south of Watts Branch to the Northern edge of the 

trolley line (covering the area where Grant Street would later be developed), lot 33 (later 

813) and lots 31, 32 and 35 (through which the railway actually ran), and lots 30, and 806 

(later 808, the northern half of lot 29). The areas where the trolley line passed through lots 

31, 32, and 35 had already been conveyed to Columbia Railway Company. Section 6 of the 

block (later referred to as its own block, 5195, directly to the East of the school's property) 

stayed empty until Lincoln Heights Public Housing Project was built here in 1945, but 

there is no indication that the National Training School ever owned this section. At a 
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Board of Trustees meeting in 1917, Burroughs informed them that 1  acres of land 

adjoining the school were for sale and she had mortgaged her life insurance policy for the 

$2,500 to purchase it for the National Training School.13 This land was lot 807 (the 

remainder of lot 29) and lot 28 and it was conveyed from Wallace T. Chapman. This 

increased the land owned by the National Training  to a range of 282,502.79 feet2 to 

325,791.7 feet2 or 6.5 acres2 to to 7.5 acres2 occupied by the National Training School. 

Adding the $6,500 paid for the land to the total amount recorded in the permits for the 

various buildings the total worth of school property comes to $52,400, not counting any 

revenue from the store or the laundry or the worth of any outbuildings.14 Harley wrote that 

by 1929, twenty years after the school began on a "rugged clay hill", it had 102 students, 8 

teachers, and 8 buildings on 8 acres worth an estimated $225,000 (the count of 8 only 

included the major buildings). 

The National Training School campus showed a domestic character discussed 

more fully in the next chapters. A 1930’s brochure called Alpha Hall the only building on 

the site when the National Training School was started. The Baist map for 1907 (Image 5), 

the year the site was purchased, shows two small structures, one in lot 806/8, and one in lot 

28 (part of the 1917 acquisition). The building in 806/8 is a much larger structure by the 

1913 Baist map, and on the 1916 Sanborn it is labeled “Domestic Science Hall”. The 

building in lot 28 on the 1907 Baist is in a slightly different position on the 1913 Baist. If 

we look at the more detailed 1916 Sanborn map (Image 6), we see that this structure is 

labeled “D” for dwelling. In the 1927 Sanborn (Image 7), this dwelling is labeled 

“Whitfield Hall” and includes an addition not shown on earlier maps. The Library of 

Congress has sentimentalized early pictures of the Domestic Science and Maggie Lena 
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Walker Halls (Images 8 and 10), possibly taken for use in promotional materials. (The 

building most often used in iconic images of the NationalTraining School was the 

Domestic Science Hall). The still rough landscape of the campus was edited of these 

pictures.  In later pictures, the Domestic Science Hall is labeled “Alpha Hall” and on the 

1913 Baist map (Image 9) it is shown with an addition on the back not present in the 

Library of Congress picture.  

Some sources say that Pioneer Hall was the first new building constructed on the 

site with money lent by a Caucasian if the African-American community would pay to 

finish it 16, but there is no building permit for it. Pioneer Hall was the only building shown 

in lot 31 in the 1913 Baist Map. On the 1916 Sanborn Map it was described as containing 

the Music Department and Dining Room. In addition to those two purposes, the Library 

of Congress photos (Image 16) describe it as having a Chapel, office (presumably 

Burroughs) and a dormitory. The 1930’s brochure said that Principal Burroughs’s 

residence was located in Pioneer Hall. It was named as a memorial to three pioneers: Lott 

Carey, who was born as a slave in Virginia and immigrated to Africa, where he became a 

statesman; John Jasper, an African –American philosopher who became a preacher while 

still a slave; and William J. Simmons, an educator, organizer and preacher in the African 

American Baptist Church. Pioneer Hall was the largest structure built thus far. Looking 

more like a dormitory than any of its predecessors, but still with a domestic character, it 

was three stories with a one-story enclosed front porch and a small addition on the back 

(Image 17). In Potomac Electric Power Company records from the 1930s, Pioneer Hall 

and Domestic Science Hall (Alpha Hall) were listed as constructed in 1911. 
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The earliest building permit (Image 13) for the site was for a 1910 dwelling. The 

owner was listed as Miss N.H. Burroughs, the architect was R.I.Vaughn, and the builder 

was B.J. Mabre. The address for the 1910 dwelling is 50th St. NE. The lot listed on the 

permit is 29, which covers lot 808, where Alpha Hall stood. It is possible the 1911 building 

permit for lot 29 was for the addition which to Alpha Hall which shows up on the 1913 

Baist Map, as the price listed is $800, about the same cost as a store room constructed on 

the site in 1911. The sentimentalized photograph discussed above show Alpha Hall sans 

addition with Walker Hall. Alpha Hall is the simplest building on the site – a vernacular 

square dwelling with a porch that would be suited for a farm or a suburb. Like Pioneer 

Hall, Whitfield Hall (Image 11), named for Ella Ewell Whitfield, a fund-raiser for the 

school17, is also without a building permit. Since its lot is part of the property purchased by 

Burroughs in 1917, it is reasonable to conclude that like Alpha Hall, Whitfield Hall was a 

farmhouse converted into a schoolhouse. Potomac Electric Power Company records list 

Whitfield Hall as constructed in 1912. It is bigger than many of the other campus buildings 

with a more complex roofline and a two-story porch. 

In 1911, the year the National Training School held its first commencement (Image 

14), it took out a permit for a 40’ x 32’ brick dormitory for “about 12 persons” for $4,000. 

Both the owner and the builder were listed as Miss Burroughs, Principal, and the Architect 

is Haller (N.T.) Co. On the 1916 Sanborn map, Maggie L. Walker Hall (Image 15) was 

described as a dormitory and in the 1930’s brochure it was also said to contain a sick room. 

The permit for the 1911 dormitory listed it as being on Lowrie Place NE, which all the 

Baist Maps from 1913 onward show running along the eastern side of the National 

Training School’s property, dividing block 5194 from block 5195.  In addition to Maggie 
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L. Walker Hall, a shed and a two-story building were located in a row along the east side of 

the site. The lot on the permit was 30, which Walker Hall straddles along with lot 808. The 

Potomac Electric Power Company records confirm a building date of 1911 for Walker 

Hall. Like all the buildings in the Library of Congress photos, Walker Hall was frame with 

wood siding, but it had a visible brick foundation, which was perhaps why the material 

listed on the permit was brick and not frame. The 1930’s brochure confirmed that Walker 

Hall was named after Maggie Lena Walker, the first black female bank president in 

Richmond, Virginia. Walker Hall was a long, narrow structure with lots of gables. 

The next building permit was from 1912 for a 29’ by 29’ frame 1912 Model Home. 

The owner was Miss N.H. Burroughs, the architect was J.A. Moore, and the builder was 

Moore (J.A.) & Co. The construction cost was $3,600. Though the permit listed the 

building as being on 50th Street NE (from which a 25’driveway for the National Training 

School is shown on the 1916 Sanborn), all the maps showed the Mary G. Burdette Model 

Home in the northeast corner of the site. The lot listed on the permit was 31, but the 

Burdette Model home was in lot 32 on the Baist Maps. The permit for the model home 

describes it as having a laundry in the basement. The Potomac Electric Power Company 

attributed the year 1911 to Burdette Home. In addition to being a practice home, it served 

as a visitor’s lodge. The Burdette Model Home looked like a large middle-class house, 

fronted by a wrap-around porch with three-sided bow windows above it. It was probably a 

more opulent house than most of the students studying domestic science as a profession 

lived in themselves, but was representative of the homes in which they would be working. 

The Model Home was built with funds given by the Women’s American Baptist Home 

Mission Society in memory of Mary G. Burdette, its first president. The Women’s 
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American Baptist home Mission Society, a Caucasian organization, appears to be a long-

time supporter of the National Training School. In 1927, when the school was raising 

money for the Trades Hall, Mrs. Lillian Collier, a member of the New York District of this 

organization, sent $100 to the school with a note to Burroughs “of this you are to use at 

least $5 for yourself and more if you wish and the rest to put into your building fund or 

wherever you need it most.19” Since Burroughs was often deferring her salary so it could be 

used for the school, it is unlikely that Burroughs used more than $5, if even she used that, 

for herself. 

The last permit from this time period was for a 60’ x 22’ frame laundry in 1912. 

The owner was listed as Miss Burroughs and the architect and builder were Moore & Co. 

The listed cost was $1,000 and the lot was 30. To the west of Walker Hall on the 1916 

Sanborn map is a building labeled “Laundry, Printery, Classroom.”On the 1913 Baist map, 

this building was located in lot 30. Pictures in the Library of Congress collection describe 

this building as “Three in One” (Image 18) and show a swimming pool in front of it. There 

are three buildings (Image 19) of the far northeast of the site in the 1916 Sanborn map that 

do not show up in the 1913 or 1919 Baist maps. They are shown in the pictures in the 

Library of Congress’ collection as simple one-story frame structures with wooden siding, 

like the rest of the campus. They were probably just storage facilities or outbuildings. No 

development immediately to the north of the National Training School showed up on the 

1913 Baist map, but north of Sheriff Road between Minnesota Avenue and 49th Street, 

blocks in East Kenilworth were plotted. The 1917 USGS map20 (Image 20) shows Watt's 

Branch as having gentler curves than the portrayal in the 1903 Baist. It’s likely the stream 
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was straightened when two concrete bridges for where Division Ave and the combined 

section of Deane and Grant streets cross Watts Branch were planned in 1913.   

In 1916, a permit for a 20’ x 40’ frame library & store on Grant Street was issued, 

with a listed cost of $1,000. The owner and builder was the National Training School, and 

the Architect was E.L. Ray. The lot is 34 (814), across the railroad tracks and Grant Street 

from the main campus. The permit notes that the building is to be a general supply store 

and the applicant is Nannie Helen Burroughs. A building is shown here on the 1919 Baist 

map, but not labeled “Community Service” until the 1924-8 Baist map. This building is 

also shown on the 1927 Sanborn, where it is not named, but titled “B” for brick with two 

small structures for autos next to it. The picture of the Community Service building (Image 

21) from the Library of Congress' collection shows that the "Community Service" sign is on 

the roof, and just under the roof's overhang is written "Library - the National Training 

School for Women and Girls - Store" and whoever took the picture wrote on it "Library 

over 4,000 books and store”. From this image it appears that the National Training School 

was selling wares to the Lincoln Heights community, and serving as its local library.  

“There was no place within a mile of the school where supplies and other 

necessities could be purchased. The domestic science department also 

sold cakes and pies… It seems that many people living around the school 

visited and used the facilities in the school in some form. Some for work, 

and others to seek the services the school provided such as the library, 

laundry, and community store.” 

 In the 1930’s brochure, the library is said to contain 7,000 books. “It is open to the people 

of the community, children of the public school, and the students of the institution.”22 

From the photograph it is also clear that the building is frame with a brick foundation, and 

it looks very much like a neighborhood business. The Library of Congress collection also 
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has a photograph of a garage and carpark right next to each other, which are probably the 

two structures next to the Community Service Building. 

The 1919 Baist map (Image 22) showed a small square structure on 50th street in lot 

813, but it was gone by the 1924-8 Baist Map (Image 23). The 1919 Baist Map showed a 

new addition in lot 814, labeled “A” for auto on the 1927 Sanborn. On the 1924-8 Baist 

Map: a building in the Northeast corner of lot 813 is labeled laundry and on the 1927 

Sanborn, a boiler with a brick chimney is shown right beside it. A 1921 permit for a 40’ x 

80’ frame laundry building in lot 813 was issued to owner “National Training School, N.H. 

Burroughs”. The architect was J.W. DeWitt Moore, the builder was W.E. Porter, and the 

cost was $4,000.  

“Sunlight laundry was built to help the institution and aid industrious students. 

The school stresses the value of Self-Help. In 1921, the trustees took a long 

step-in the direction of Self-Help. Applications were pouring in from girls in 

all sections of the country begging for admission. They had little or no money, 

and wanted an opportunity to work their way through school. The public 

laundry was built to aid them. Many ambitious students have been helped. 

Men and Women from the community are employed in the plant.”23  

In 1922 a permit for a 12’ x 14’ brick boiler house was issued to owner “The National 

Baptist Training School.” The architect was Woodson Vaughn & Co., the builder was 

National Baptist Training School, and the cost was $1,500. The address for the 1921 

laundry was 5009 Grant St. NE, and the 1922 boiler house's address was 5001 Grant 

Street. Though the 1927 Sanborn did show a smaller building next to the building in lot 

814, it is not labeled as having a chimney or being brick.  

The Library of Congress image of the National Training School's laundry (Image 

24) showed its back drying yard, and a sign in the photograph proclaims "This is the 
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sunlight laundry, where all clothes are washed right, where white clothes are kept white. " 

The laundry's position as shown in the Baist and Sanborn maps place it across the railroad 

tracks from the main campus, like the Community Services building, but on the other side 

of Grant Street and Watt's Branch from that structure. It would make sense for the sign 

advertising the laundry to face the main street (Grant). The Drying yard must be on this 

side, even though it is more public, to keep the clean clothes on the opposite of the 

building from the railroad tracks as they dry (what could be a track can be seen in the right 

background of the photo.) Text of the permit for the Laundry records it "along the RR 

right-of-way". The bushes in front of the sign serve to illustrate that as well as fronting Grant 

Street N.E.; this side of the laundry would have been on Watts Branch. The Baist map of 

1919 shows that the blocks east of 49th street between Sheriff Road and Grant Street had 

been plotted. By 1924-8, all the remaining blocks north of the school, between 49th street 

and the district line, north and south of Sheriff Road, had been plotted. However, that 

doesn’t mean they’d all been settled, as block studies based upon permit dates show. 

The shed and unmarked outbuilding in the 1916 Sanborn disappeared by the 1927 

Sanborn. Behind the Three-in-one building (now just labeled classrooms) is a cinderblock 

building with a chimney (it must be another boiler) and another small outbuilding labeled 

“other”. The 1927 Sanborn is the first map on which “Whitfield Hall” is labeled and 

shown with its north addition. The 1928 Baist marked the first appearance of the Trades 

Hall (Image 25), which corresponds to the last building permit on the list for the National 

Training School site. It was issued in 1927 for a 90 x 50’ brick school. The owner was the 

National Training School, the architect was Thomas M. Medford, the builder was Loehler 

(G.G.) Co, the cost was $30,000, and the address was 601 50th Street N.E. Though brick 
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had been used before for foundations, there was only one building on the National 

Training School Campus that was all brick: the Trades Hall.  It was also larger and more 

institutional looking than any of the earlier buildings. “The Trades Hall is a beautiful new 

terra cotta, fire-proof, brick structure, 60’ x 120’ with spacious halls, twelve attractive 

classrooms, the latest equipment, three office, one reception room, and a printery. Another 

story is to be put on.”  The comment at the end shows that the school was still fundraising 

for the Trades Hall even as it was being built. Due to the Great Depression, this third story 

was never added. Mary MeLeod was the featured speaker at the dedication ceremony 16 

December 1928. The National Register Nomination stated that the Trades Hall replaced a 

classroom building destroyed by fire on 16 May 1926. It has been suggested that the farm 

stables were converted to classrooms when the school began25 (this could be the shed or the 

unmarked building on the 1916 Sanborn map). As  all the main buildings are still intact on 

the 1928 Baist (Image 26), it is probably one of these two buildings that burned in 1926.   

The Trades Hall is a symmetrical rectangular building with renaissance inspired 

brick rustication on the corners. It contained 13 classrooms, 3 offices (including 

Burroughs’), and an auditorium. The main entrance on the second floor is in the center 

bay marked by brick quoins. Unlike the earlier vernacular domestic buildings, “The 

Trades Hall is clearly a public building with overt associations to the classical tradition of 

public buildings in Washington, D.C. and the rest of the nation.”26 The change in building 

material and form heralded other changes to the school as well. 
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Designing a Campus for African-American Females:  

The National Training School for Women and Girls 1907 – 1964 

 

Chapter Two: “It’s not where you come from, but where you’re going that counts”.1 

 

Howard University professor Benjamin Brawley found there were over 1 million 

working African-American women in 1910: 52% worked as farmers or laborers, and 28% 

were cooks or washerwomen. Social Worker Elizabeth Ross Haynes found 2 million 

working African-American women in three types of occupations in 1922: domestic and 

personal service (50%), agriculture, and manufacturing and mechanical industries.2 

'Accepting the fact that domestic service work was a reality for the vast majority of African-

American women, Burroughs set out to enhance their employment opportunities, wages, 

and most especially their image in the white and black communities.3” Burroughs even 

started the National Association of Wage Earners, a union for domestics, in 1920, which 

Maggie Lena Walker, who was also a member of the National Training School’s Board of 

Trustees, joined. The goals of the Association were “to secure a wage that will enable 

women to live decently” and “to influence just legislation affecting women wage earners”.4 

At the time, African-Americans could not be members of the International Ladies 

Garment Worker’s Union nor National Women’s Trade Union League.  

“By 1920, slightly more than 50% of the married black female population in the 

nation’s capital was gainfully employed, compared to less than one-fourth of the 

married white female population. Similar ratios existed between black and white 

women in cities and towns throughout the United States during this period. By 

contrast, the level of unmarried black and unmarried white female employment 

was comparable (75% and 70%) respectively.5  
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In the 1910 census, there were 9,827,673 African-Americans in the 48 U.S. states at that 

time. The African American population in the U.S. Territories was as follows: Alaska, 209; 

Hawai’i, 695; Puerto Rico, 385,437; and 1,378 African-Americans were serving abroad in 

the Armed Forces. In the 48 U.S. States, there were 82,598,168 Caucasian Americans; 

291,018 Native American Indians; 152,956 Japanese-Americans; 94,648 Chinese- 

Americans; and 49,879 Americans of other races. In the District of Columbia, 795,446 

African-Americans and 236,128 Caucasian Americans resided. Of the 35,540 African- 

American males 10 years of age and older in D.C., 28,937 were listed as gainfully 

employed. Of the 44,424 African-American females in D.C., 26, 699 were listed as 

gainfully employed.6 (Images 27 – 29 are from the 1910 and 1920 Censuses).  

The report on Negro Housing, chaired by Burroughs at the request of President 

Hoover, cited a study of the wages for African-American women working in Chicago in 

1931. (It did not list the wages for women in D.C.) In all instances, Black women were paid 

less than white women:  

"General Housework": $5 - $20 a week 

Nursemaids and Secondmaids - average $12/week 

Cooks, the highest paid of Domestics - average $15, but could earn up to $25 

Day workers (those who didn't live in the home of their employers and would go 

from house to house)-$3.50/day 

Laundry workers - hand ironers $15/week, Mangle operators - $12/week  

(Students at the National Training School were taught how to do both)  

Factory workers $8 - $15/week 

Highly specialized Factory Workers - up to $25 / week 

Power machinery operators - $8 - $10/week 

Hand sewers - $15/week 

Automobile-parts manufacturing - $13/week 
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Packing industry - $12-$15 week 

Stenographers / office workers - $15 to $25 / week, average of $20/week7 

Like Marcy McLeod Bethune, Charlotte Hawkings Brown, and Lucy Craft Laney, 

other African-American female educators of their time period, Burroughs believed 

education was the best way to provide opportunities for their race as a whole and for 

women in particular. “One Vicious, ignorant Negro is readily conceded to be a type of all 

the rest but a Negro educated and refined is said to be an exception. We must labor to 

reverse this rule; education and moral excellence must become general and characteristic, 

with ignorance and depravity the exception.” 8Education was seen as part of uplifting the 

race and transforming African-Americans from rural stereotypes to constructive urban 

community members. Before founding the school, Burroughs once said she vowed "I 

would some day have a school here in Washington that politics had nothing to do with, and 

that would give all sorts of girls a fair chance and help them overcome whatever handicaps 

they might have had."9  

Burroughs was sometimes called the female Booker T. Washington for having 

named her school to emphasize the practical aspects of the education students would 

receive there. However, Burroughs provided her students with an education that was far 

more than just practical training. Critics of Washington felt that his concept of industrial 

education limited the economic growth of African-Americans. Unlike the National 

Training School, Tuskegee was funded primarily by Caucasian philanthropists. Whereas at 

Washington's school "… one of Tuskegee's faculty members from the North, unused to 

Southern traditions, was admonished by the dean for carrying too many books - the dean 

feared that whites 'would get the impression that Tuskegee was training the intellect rather 

than the heart and hands'."10, the picture of the National Training School's Community 
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Service Building shows that the school publicly proclaimed its library, and whoever wrote 

on that picture was very proud of the fact that the library had over 4,000 books. Though 

the National Training School was somewhat removed from the community11 by the 

position of most of the buildings on the top of the hill across a stream and the railroad 

tracks from the main street in the area, the National Training School's Community Service 

Building and Laundry provided consistent points of interaction with the rest of Lincoln 

Heights. The Associated Charities' summer camp was also a way for the school to bring the 

public in. Another event that would have increased contact with the surrounding 

community was the National Training School's participation in Negro Health Week in 

1925.12 

Upon entrance to the National Training School, students were required to take 

exams in English and math. "Students who displayed less than eighty percent proficiency in 

their studies, or those with fifteen or more demerits in deportment, or were absent more 

than two days during the term, had to take examinations at the end of the quarter."13 

Students had to have a cumulative average of at least 75% proficiency in both their 

academic and vocational courses to be promoted to the next level of study. "A woman in 

the domestic science program was introduced to advanced mathematics, history, a foreign 

language, and many other subjects that would not have been considered necessary for 

domestic servants."14 Students were required to take a course in Black History and 

Burroughs herself was a member of the Society for the Study of Negro Life, founded by 

Dr. Carter G. Woodson, a fellow D.C. resident. (Woodson’s niece, Joan C. Bickley, 

attended the National Training School). 
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In short, Burroughs' students received a well-rounded liberal arts education in 

addition to professional training. “In this time period, classical education was looked upon 

as the education to be received by whites only. It was thought that African Americans were 

not mentally capable of learning such advanced work.”15 The type of education Burroughs 

had been giving her students was recognized when the upper section was reorganized as a 

Junior College in 1929 and its name was changed to the National Trade and Professional 

School. An untitled article about the school in response to a dispute with the National 

Baptist Convention over ownership, likely from 1927, stated the National Training 

Schools’ goal of being the African-American equivalent of a Seven Sisters college: 

“A great national institution for our women is going to be built in Washington. 

If we Negro Baptist are too shortsighted and divided to do it, some day some 

Negro Christian group will build and endow here, at the Nation’s capitol, a 

great Christian University for Women – a university that will be as sacred to the 

Negro race as Holyoke or Vassar or Wellesley is to the Anglo-Saxon race.”  

 

As the National Training School was being established, Domestic Science was 

being reformulated as Euthenics. Organizations founded by or including women such as 

the Young Women’s Christian Association (YWCA), the Salvation Army, the College 

Settlements Association (CSA), and the National Association of Colored women applied 

Euthenics to the rapidly expanding urban areas of the U.S. in the early 1900’s, a movement 

of municipal housekeeping. Burroughs showed her support for municipal housekeeping in 

the speech she gave when she started the WCA. "As a practical part of our Home Mission 

work, we urge the women here to give more attention to civic improvement... Clean out the 

rubbish; whitewash and put things in order... This is the only practical way to show that 

education and Christianity are counting in the development of the race."16 Since Americans 
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at the end of the nineteenth century believed disease was caused by dirt and bad smells, 

they assumed a clean city would also be healthier."17 

The organizations engaged in this work, however, were often segregated, like the 

YWCA, which had separate chapters for African-American and Caucasian women, with 

the National Organization acting as a forum between the two. Caucasian women’s 

organizations saw themselves as helping “others”: immigrants and/or the poor., while 

“residential segregation did not allow the black middle class much insulation from the 

black poor”. 18 Because African-Americans had restrictions on where they could live, 

African-American neighborhoods were a mix of classes and incomes. Thus, African-

American urban activism literally focused on the communities in which they were living, 

while Caucasian women had to cross town to help “others” and then retreated to their 

segregated neighborhoods. 

African-American women also founded their own associations, like the NACW or 

the Phillis Wheatly Home, established by Jane Hunter in Cleveland in 1911 to provide 

housing for single, urban, African-American women, while the White Rose Association did 

the same in New York. Similar homes spread to other major cities in the U.S. in the 1920’s 

and 30’s. African-American organizations also raised money to provide what the states were 

not adequately funding under segregation: the social welfare of African-Americans, 

including education. The Colored Women’s League of Washington and the National 

League for the Protection of Colored Women provided Day center and Kindergartens. In 

1907, W.E.B. DuBois counted 151 church-connected and 161 non-secretarian private 

schools for African Americans.19 In !913, the National Training School’s Christian Social 

Service (Missionary) Department became involved with the Centre, the Baptist Settlement 
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House in D.C. “During the winter of 1914-1915, the Centre’s soup kitchen fed 1,200 

people, donated clothing, represented juvenile delinquents in courts, an offered classes as 

well as recreational activities.”20  

Burroughs herself spoke out against segregation, urging a boycott of D.C.’s 

segregated public transportation system in 1915. Speaking at the African Methodist 

Episcopal Church in Baltimore in 1939 about why she’d always focused more on 

fundraising for the National Training School among African-Americans than Caucasians, 

she said “Don’t wait for deliverers. They’re all dead…The Negro must serve notice… that 

he is ready to die for justice.”21 Burroughs refused to speak to the National Christian 

Mission in 1941 because they wanted to pre-approve her speech. In 1943, Burroughs is 

quoted as saying “The Negro is oppressed not because he is a Negro – but because he’ll 

take it.”22 Therefore her goal was to teach civics and leadership to her students, not just 

industrial skills. Burroughs was not alone in her sentiments: Bethune picketed in front of 

People’s Drugs for denying jobs to African-American youths even while employed by the 

National Youth Administration during the New Deal. 

Early On, Burroughs’ influence on women’s empowerment extended beyond 

education, into their role in the church. African American women were usually not allowed 

to be ordained in the Baptist church. Instead, they “taught” and “spoke” during services, 

often using this time to do the same things they would have done had they been allowed to 

preach. Burroughs founded Women’s Day in 1907 to give women a major occasion to 

have leadership roles and celebrate their religious activities in the Baptist church. In an 

article about Nannie Helen Burroughs and the National Training School, Kelly Miller, an 

African-American civil rights leader who briefly served as a math teacher in the D.C. public 
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schools before eventually becoming a dean at Howard University, wrote “This is a day of 

liberalization of women.”23 

Many African-American female educators involved themselves with Suffrage and 

other issues now viewed as a part of women’s liberation. Mary Church Terrell’s first 

publication was “…the printed version of a speech she had delivered at a National 

American Woman Suffrage Association convention, which she sold for twenty-five cents a 

copy to help fund a kindergarten.”24 In the African-American community, where only a half 

century before women had not been able to choose not to work, being a homemaker could 

be seen as a sign of how far the race had come. Burroughs realized this wasn’t an option 

for most African-American women, who still had to work outside their own homes to help 

support their families. But more than that, she believed that anyone who wanted to work 

had a right to work, regardless of gender. The National Training School’s motto was 

“Work. Support Thyself. To thine own powers appeal.”25 Repeatedly admonishing working 

parents not to leave their daughters home alone, in Burroughs’ reasoning, a boarding 

school was the perfect solution  for “latch-key kids”26. In the mid-1920’s, the National 

Training School began teaching trades not traditionally done by women, such as shoe 

repair and dry-cleaning. 

The Laundry not only connected the National Training School to the Lincoln 

Heights Community and made that community cleaner; it additionally gave students a way 

to support themselves. As a result of Burroughs belief in self-help, students were not given 

scholarships, but they could work in the laundry or the community store to help pay their 

way. At the National Training School, like other women’s schools, making the students 

responsible for the upkeep of the school was not just part of their professional training, it 
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was also a component of the moral code. Students were expected to donate one to two 

hours of their time each day to the housekeeping of their campus. Students could pay an 

additional $2/month to be excused from this duty.  

When Mary Lyon founded Mount Holyoke Female Seminary for Caucasian 

women in the 1830’s, she declared the campus to be servant-free and made the students 

responsible for caring for the buildings they lived and studied in and preparing and serving 

the meals.27 This made the cost of attending Mount Holyoke cheaper than other schools 

for young ladies at the time, and was seen as part of the moral training students received. At 

the Palmer Memorial Institute, a co-ed boarding and prepatory school founded by 

Charlotte Hawkings Brown in North Carolina in 1901, “Students were required to attend 

daily chapel and do most of the cooking, cleaning, and upkeep for the school.28” At the 

National Training School, students were required to attend Chapel every morning at 9am, 

a prayer meeting on Friday mornings, and Sunday School from 8-9:30 on campus, 

followed by the church service of their choice off-campus, and 3;30 vespers in the campus 

chapel. 

In 1911-12, enrollment at the National Training School was 87 students 

representing 26 states and 4 foreign countries. They were taught by “nine regular and two 

special teachers”. At the end of the schoolyear 19 students received Diplomas (Academic) 

and the same number received Certificates (Trade). The Board of Trustees Minutes note  

“In giving either certificate of diploma we consider not only scholarship but 

personal appearance and deportment… Several Diplomas were withheld this 

year because the students were not neat and clean and careful of their hooks, 

eyes, and buttons during their training course… To insure personal cleanliness 

and care every student is inspected from head to foot every morning at 6 

o’clock.”29 
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Potential students could apply personally, or be nominated by relatives, pastors or 

church or community members. In addition to asking for information about the last grade 

completed, if they had ever attended boarding school before, and what trade they planned 

to study at the school, the National Training School’s admission application asked 

applicants if they were Christians and required the signature of a “reputable citizen” from 

the applicant’s community testifying the applicant was “upright and ambitious”30. The 

application fee began at $3 and later increased to $5. 

The 1920 census (Image 30) was the only one to list the "National Training School 

for Women and Girls (colored)", not to be confused with the "National Training School for 

Girls", a reform school for troubled white girls also located in D.C. (This school changed its 

name from the Reform School for Girls after the National Training School was founded.) 

In 1926, the National Training School considered changing its name to the National 

Seminary and Trade School for Girls to remove confusion, but the name was not actually 

changed until 1929 when it became the National Trade and Professional School.) Nannie 

Helen Burroughs was listed first, as the president. Then four teachers, a cook, a clerk, and 

a bookkeeper were listed. There were 92 students, ranging from age 14 to 39. The average 

age was 17.62 and the largest age group was 22 16-year-olds. Students' origins were 

Alabama, Connecticut, D.C., Florida, Georgia, Kansas, Kentucky, Louisiana, Maryland, 

Mississippi, North Carolina, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New York, Ohio, Pennsylvania, 

South Carolina, West Virginia, and one each from French Haiti, Jamaica, and Liberia, but 

by far the most students (23) were from Virginia.  The students' ages confirm that the 

National Training School was a mix between a high school and a junior college. Until a 

middle school was added to the campus in 1933, no students younger than 15 years of age, 
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or having completed less than the sixth grade, were admitted. After that, the trades were 

open to students 13 years and older.  

Though the National Training School was an institute and not an academy, its 

campus shared many characteristics with a college.  Many early women’s seminaries had 

followed the asylum form, which consisted of housing all of a school's functions within one 

building.31 The National Training School followed the American college form of a campus 

composed of buildings for specialized uses set within a landscape. However, the buildings 

themselves looked much like houses (Campus Panoramas, Images 31 – 38), benefiting a 

school which began with only three possible majors: Domestic Science, Normal (teaching), 

and Missionary Studies. 

This domestic type of campus was first codified by landscape architecture Frederick 

Law Olmsted in his 1866 proposals for the University of 32California at Berkeley and the 

Massachusetts Agricultural College. In his written reports, Olmsted stated that the proper 

location for a college campus was neither the countryside, with “the barrenness of monastic 

study” separated from domestic life, nor in the city center, with its distractions or 

temptations33, but rather in a suburb, as Watts Branch was when the National Training 

School settled in the Lincoln Heights neighborhood. Olmsted also sought a middle ground 

in students’ lodging, advocating neither large dormitories nor ranges of individual rooms, 

but “houses with ‘a domestic character’, accommodating no more than thirty students each. 

Berkeley and the University of Massachusetts at Amherst did not adopt the Cottage 

System, but when Smith College opened in 1875, it was with a campus following the 

cottage system. The Caucasian women’s college was located on a hill, like the National 

Training School, and it choose this form to “educate women at college, but symbolically 
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keep them at home”.34 Smith lacked a chapel and library so that its students were forced to 

interact with the residents of the small town it was located in. Burroughs wasn’t concerned 

with keeping women at home – she had founded a training school, which by definition 

trained women for work - the careers she trained them for were all considered within the 

female sphere, and she supported the Christian values that the cottage system was meant to 

instill when placed in the context of a female school.  

All of the teachers at the National Training School were college graduates and 

female so they could be examples for their students. Teachers were required to be 

members of educational associations, subscribe to educational journals, and take turns 

serving as the hostess for the school social held the last Friday of every month. Although 

pictures in the Library of Congress’s collection indicate that male preachers occasionally 

taught Bible classes, Burroughs firmly believed in the value of a school run by women for 

women, writing "the normal adolescent girl quickly finds herself if she is given three or four 

years in a girls' school”35. There was another reason for teachers to live among their 

students: to oversee their moral development. Burroughs was progressive in her ideas on 

women’s labor, but she was very much of her time when it came to morality.   
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Designing a Campus for African-American Females:  

The National Training School for Women and Girls 1909 – 1964 

 

Chapter Three: “ The arch is open, the trains are running, and God bless you.”  

 

The female seminary model required teachers to live with their students in order to 

mold their “mind, manners, and morals.”  The National Training School only hired 

teachers that exhibited the type of Christian behavior expected from a woman (no smoking 

and no unseemly fraternization with men). At Mount Holyoke, its founder, Mary Lyons 

instructed her students to “...rise early, schedule each moment and plan carefully.”  The 

focus on scheduling at the National Training School was also related to professionalism 

and teaching the students the time management skills they would need in the working 

world. An emphasis on morality was not unique to women’s schools or African-American 

schools. When Bethany College in what is now West Virginia was founded in 1840, it was 

described by its president as “...a literary, moral, and religious school, or the union of four 

institutions in one – the combination of the family, the primary school, the college, and the 

church in one great system of education.”  This quote could be applied to any of the 

schools discussed above. What made morality at African-American women’s schools 

unique was the history they were contending with. Under slavery, African-American 

women could not control their own sexuality.  

“Black women were doubly stigmatized as a result of the legacy of sexual 

exploitation endured by their mothers and grandmothers under slavery. Many 

white women whose legal rights were barely above those of former slaves, used 

the lingering myth of white female purity to distance themselves from the plight 

of black women and exclude them from their organizations.”  
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Seen in this light, the moral code of the National Training School was another 

attempt to empower its students in the professional world. Neither African-American nor 

Caucasian women’s groups questioned “sexual purity as an appropriate goal for unmarried 

women”, but black activists were far in advance of their white feminists in their campaigns 

against rape and their identification of that crime as part of a system of power relations, and 

they did not assume that only white men were sexual aggressors.” This explains why some 

of the earliest African-American urban institutions were homes with the goal of protecting 

women, and why these institutions had such strict moral codes. 

At the National Training School, a brochure from the 1920’s proclaimed that  

“good character, good health, and good scholarship” were the basic requirements for 

admission. They were in the “Character forming, not the reforming business” and the 

school would not accept delinquent or problem girls, nor girls who drink and smoke. 

“Students wear simple becoming wash dresses to school, wide middy suits 
to vesper on Sundays, simple appropriate dresses to church, parties, and 
entertainments. Students are required to wear Cuban or military heels 
shoes. Do not bring or send any other kind…for physical education, please 
bring black or blue bloomers, white middy, gym shorts, black stockings, 
bathing suit and cap, tennis racket and two balls.”   

Students were not allowed to wear shirtwaists and skirts, only dresses. As the physical 

education reference demonstrates, sports were a part of the curriculum at the National 

Training School. The National Training School also had a basketball team (Image 39). At 

women’s institutions, sports were justified by health reasons, whereas at men’s colleges they 

were said to instill the attractive characteristic of competitiveness in that gender.  

Throughout the history of the National Training School, the relationship between that 

female institution and the male National Baptist Convention encompassed indifference, 

modest support, and conflict. 
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The National Training School’s year began the first Wednesday of October and 

ran until the first Friday in June. The first year it was open, Burroughs was unsalaried. 

(Throughout her life, her main source of income was her job as Corresponding Secretary 

for the WCA.) In 1910, she was awarded a salary of $50/month. The By-laws were also 

amended to state that all teacher and staff hirings were subject to Burroughs’ approval.  

Burroughs seldom drew her salary, though, preferring it to be used by the school. By 1917, 

she was owed $2,250.  During the 1921-22 school year, her salary from the National 

Training School was increased to $150/month.  

In 1915, NBC President Elias Morris and Missions Board Corresponding 

Secretary Richard Boyd disagreed over who owned the National Baptist Publishing House: 

the convention, or the publishing board. Boyd argued that the publishing board owned the 

publishing house because the NBC had never financially supported it. As a result of the 

disagreement, a new group, the National Baptist Convention of America, headed by Boyd, 

split from the National Baptist Convention Inc., headed by Morris. The new charter of the 

NBC consolidated all properties owned by the auxiliary boards (Publishing, Home 

Mission, Foreign Mission, Education, Evangelical, and the WCA), under NBC control: 

 “Auxiliary Boards and their officers and directors shall have and exercise no 

power of control over the affairs and properties of said Boards independent of 

this corporation, and said Boards shall forthwith amend their charters so as to 

show that each and all of said Boards, are under and subject to the jurisdiction 

and control of this corporation.”  

When the NBC attempted to seize the National Training School, it discovered it did 

not own it; rather the Board of Trustees did. In 1916, the NBC ordered an audit of the 

National Training School and the following year asked the Board of Trustees to change the 
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school’s charter to recognize NBC control. The Trustees responded: “The sense of this 

Board is that they are legal and rightful custodians of the National Training School; and 

have no authority to turn this property over to any person or persons, therefore, we refuse 

to comply with the request of that NBC”.  The Trustees felt that since the National 

Baptist Convention had never financially supported the school, President Morris’s request 

was unreasonable. When the National Training School did receive formal Baptist funding, 

it was through the WCA, and the WCA raised no funds for the school between the 1909-

10 school year and the 1923-24 School year, when it gave $350. The next year the WCA 

raised $2900.80 for the National Training School, then nothing the following year. The 

WCA fundraised for the school again in the 1926-27 school year and continued to do so 

until the 1937-8 school year. The amount raised ranged from a high of 1,526.12 in 1937-

38, to a low of $98 in 1933-34. 

At its annual convention in 1920, (held in Indianapolis that year), the NBC 

resolved to take the National Training School to Court, but this was delayed by President 

Morris’s death. Dr. L.K. Williams, who had come up with the idea that all property 

nationally owned by the African-American Baptists should be held by the National Baptist 

Convention in corporation, became President. In 1924, he and Secretary R.B. Hudson 

wrote a letter to Burroughs in which they stated “The fact that many for years have 

contended that it was a Baptist and a Convention’s institution argues that it should be. The 

well-known history of its origin and existence argues convincingly that it should be if it is 

not.”  Williams and Hudson asked for a joint committee to be established with 

representatives from the Board of Trustees and the National Baptist Convention. The 

Committee’s report agreed with the Trustee’s position. The Executive Board of the 
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National Baptist Convention then changed strategies, reducing their request of ownership 

to letting the WCA appoint all members of the Board of Trustees. As the NBC had power 

over the WCA, this would have effectively given them control of the Board of Trustees.  

The Trustees refused this request as well, informing Dr. Williams that the WCA 

already had the power to nominate trustees and that the officers of the NBC and WCA 

executive boards were ex-officio members of the Board of Trustees. Prior to 1925, none of 

these ex-officio members attended any of the quarterly Trustees meeting. Trustees were 

nominated by state organizations and the WCA and elected by the current members of the 

Board. When the Board of Trustees had first been established, they staggered themselves 

into 1, 2, or 3 year terms according to alphabetical order of the states, so that in years after 

that, when all terms were 3 years, no more than 1/3 of the board would be elected in any 

given year. If the Board of Trustees decided to sell the school, the sale had to be ratified by 

2/3 of WCA and NBC after giving a three-month notice in at least 10 different state Baptist 

papers for 10 consecutive weeks preceding the vote. Money from the sale of the school 

would be put in a residuary trust fund in a D.C. bank for the WECA. The money could be 

used only for the purpose of education as it was intended by the donors who gave it.   The 

National Baptist Convention was heavily in debt over the Publishing House and had 

already sold one school that it had control over and closed another. Burroughs believed 

she had been called by God to found the National Training School and wrote “This is an 

ideal of too great a value to be prostituted to the petty glory of church politics.”   

In 1929-30, the NBC executive Board had the National Training School audited 

again. The resulting 1930 statement of assets and liabilities for the school offers a snapshot 
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of the National Training School. The value of the land was $40,400. The buildings’ value 

was $95,294.07. The Library’s worth was $3,000.  

Contributors: Churches ($1,467.43), State Organizations 247.22),  

Clubs (1,188.93), White Friends (2,501,50), Foundations (250),  

Missionary Societies (214.76), Other organizations (1,583.35),  

Individuals (2,683.66), Legacies (298), Women’s Convention (518.75).  

Sales in the store amounted to $647.61 and revenues from the laundry were $10,239.66. 

Personnel expenses: Salary of Executive (Burroughs) $207.72 

It’s also recorded that Burroughs had deferred receiving $1,592.88 of her salary for 

the year so the money could be used for school expense. In addition, she loaned 

$428.38 to the school. 

Travel of Executive & Agent: $1,26.82 

Salaries of Office Force: $2,630.53 

Salary of Field Agent: $710.00 

Salaries of Teachers: $5,450.74 

Boarding Department Salaries: $2,388.08 

[This must mean some staff worked solely as dormitory monitors]. 

 Boarding Department Student Labor: $717.61 

 Wages of Janitors: $2,184.35 

Store Salaries $120 

Laundry Salaries: $8,171,79 

Laundry Student Labor: $102.80  

In 1939, realizing that they could not get the Board of Trustees to surrender the 

National Training School, the NBC passed a resolution at their yearly convention asking 

the WCA to remove Burroughs as Corresponding Secretary. When the resolution came to 

a vote within the WCA, it failed, and the WCA held an additional vote of confidence 

supporting Burroughs. In response, despite having never financially supported the National 

Training School in any significant way, the National Baptist Convention informed the 
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American Baptist Convention (the Caucasian organization) that it had withdrawn its 

support of the National Training School in favor of its own school in Nashville. That same 

year, Burroughs attended a National Conference on Problems of the Negro and Youth in 

D.C.  

The Great Depression brought a lull in building on the National Training School 

Campus between the 1927 Trades Hall and the 1950’s Dormitory and Chapel. The 

National Depression hit African-Americans especially hard and the National Training 

School couldn’t rely on many of its usual contributors. Unable to pay its fuel bill, the 

school closed for the winter months during three years in the early to mid-30’s. Closing the 

school for the winter cut operating costs by 50%, so the school year ran from mid-April to 

mid-November instead of the first Wednesday of October to the last Friday of June for 

those three years. During the winter months, the National Training School Pageant Players 

would do tours to interest potential donors in the school. In April 1933, a middle school 

component was added to that National Training School for girls from ages eight to fourteen 

and in 1934 Burroughs started publishing The Worker, a journal of the National Baptist 

Convention, (A print shop for The Worker  was installed in the Trades Hall and the 

publication still calls that building its home today.) Burroughs also founded the Northeast 

self-help Cooperative (later renamed Cooperative Industries, Inc.) during the depression. 

External forces affected the school in other ways as well. The Watts Branch 

neighborhoods show up in a 1927 map of D.C. produced by the National Capital Park and 

Planning Commission (Image 41). The blocks in the neighborhoods shown plotted in the 

1903 Baist map are labeled “Uncontrolled growth, 1866-1893” , in part because these 

neighborhoods were laid out ignoring the stream of Watts Branch itself, meaning houses 
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were built in the floodplain. The stream was not recognized on Baist maps after 1903. 

Starting in 1929, the Commission purchased land along Watts Branch to turn the 

floodplain into a park. In 1942, Nannie Helen Burroughs oversaw the sale of lot 814 to the 

National Capital Park and Planning Commission for $6,000, and parts of lots 32 and 33 for 

$12,337.58 (Image 42). These two plots of land contained the two main sources of revenue 

for the school: the store and the laundry, and covered a third of the school's property. The 

1945 Baist Map lists lot 32 as 40,350 feet2 after the sale and lot 31 as 43,673 feet2 for lot 31. 

The rest of the lots are the same as the earlier Baist maps. Using the range of Baist and 

ArchGIS measurements19, that leaves 212,151.75 to 218,240.93 feet2 or 4.87 acres2 to 5.01 

acres2 left for the campus after the sale.  

The 1928-31 and 1937-43 Baist maps (Images 26 and 44) do not record any major 

changes to the site. In fact, even after the sale, the laundry and community service building 

continue to show up on the 1945-50 and 1954-59 Baist maps (Images 45-46), but a Library 

of Congress photograph of an abandoned laundry (Image 24A) and Community Service 

Building (Image 43) demonstrate that the building stood unused before it was torn down. 

Though all blocks in the neighborhoods around Watts Branch had been plotted by 1924-

8, the 1956-1960 Sanborn maps (Image 47) show that the blocks immediately adjacent to 

the National Training School did not completely fill in until 1956. In 1945, the Lincoln 

Heights housing project was constructed to the east and south of the School. When the 

D.C. public school year began fall 1954, four months after Brown v. Board of Education, 

they were officially desegregated. Two years later the National Capital Housing Authority 

officially desegregated public housing. D.C. had been fighting the perception of poor 

public schools for decades, and so private schools remained popular in the district. 
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Although the National Training School closed briefly in 1953, it continued to hold its 

annual summer institute for church women.20 

Women entered the workforce (and colleges) in large numbers during World War 

One and again during World War Two when many men were serving in the armed forces. 

The push for women to return to more traditional careers to open up jobs for returning 

male soldiers and make space in colleges and universities for former soldiers using the G.I. 

bill could have contributed to the fundraising boom that built the Chapel and Dormitory 

(Images 48 – 51). However, throughout the 50’s, the need for women’s boarding schools 

and institutes decreased.  “This all-female world began to erode in the twenties and, 

although fragments remained, lost political power by Word War II”.21 

The new dormitory was dedicated on July 9, 1956. It was built on the site of the 

one-story outbuilding to the northeast of Burdette Home . A brochure from the Library of 

Congress collection records the cost of the chapel as $50,000 and the dormitory as 

$100,000 . Both buildings appear on the 1956-60 Sanborn map, but the Community 

Service building (and the carport and garage next to it) was gone, as was the laundry and 

boiler house next to it. The Three-in-One building was gone, destroyed by a fire in 1941. It 

was replaced by a brick one-story square print shop. The boiler and one-story storage 

building to the east of it remained. Whitfield Hall was described as containing a reception 

room in the northern wing. The Library of Congress’ photographs record the dedication of 

the dormitory in 1956. Another one- story outbuilding joined the one east of Pioneer Hall. 

The financial record from 1954-55 lists nine employees living on campus. 

The 60’s saw a series of national legal cases distinguishing between in loco parentis 

standards for minors and those of college students. On many college campuses, students 
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demanded the right to have visits from members of the opposite sex without supervision, 

the abolishment of curfew, and the right to leave campus without restriction. The type of 

restrictions students were rebelling against in this decade can be seen in the General Rules 

and Regulations of the National Training School for the 1925-26 school year. Parents or 

Guardians had to submit written requests to the school for students to leave campus (and 

then they were accompanied by a teacher or chaperon), to have callers other than their 

parents or guardians, to have correspondence other than letters to their parents or 

guardians; and to receive callers other than parents or guardians. All students that weren’t 

residents of D.C. were required to live on campus, and when the school year ended they 

were told they could not stay with friends in D.C. but must go straight to their parents or 

guardians’ residence. Students were not allowed to move the furniture in their rooms 

(which could be inspected at any time), nor could they have guests in their rooms, or even 

visit other dormitories on campus without permission. Students could not borrow each 

other’s clothes, or have clothes mailed to them unless specified by the school. Parents or 

Guardians were not allowed to send any food to their students other than uncooked fruit at 

any time or cake for Christmas or the student’s birthday.  

Female faculty also endured strict rules, but as early the 1930’s, the female faculty at 

many schools began to demand the right to live off campus. Lucy D. Slowe, Dean of 

Women at Howard University, with the support of Bethune and other prominent African-

American women, refused the request of the President and trustees of Howard University 

to live on campus.  

In the 1950’s and 1960’s, there were nine staff members living on the National 

Training School campus, where they could monitor the students. A majority of the school’s 
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population at this time must have been under 18 (two years of middle school, four years of 

high school, and two years of college composed the full spectrum of the National Training 

School education). The expansion of student’s rights was applied more liberally to public 

colleges than private colleges. That and the young age of many National Training School’s 

students meant its code of conduct for students could still have been quite strict even in the 

last decade of its operation. 

Nannie Helen Burroughs received an honorary degree of Doctor of Law from 

Shaw University in 1944. In 1959, the Afro-American newspaper awarded her an Honor 

Roll plaque for distinguished public service. When she died two years later at the age of 

eighty-two on May 20, 1961, she had served as the National Training School’s president for 

52 years. Burroughs reportedly asked her staff members to solicit donations for the school 

rather than flowers. Her viewing was the first use of the new chapel.22 On 25 May 1961, her 

funeral was held at the 19th Street Baptist Church (where she was a member since 1892). It 

was estimated that more than 5,000 attended. She was eulogized as “…a voice crying out in 

the wilderness, strong and loud, for equality of women with men.”23 (Images 52 and 53). 

The campus she left behind - the first school for African-American females to open 

outside of the deep south, funded mostly by African-Americans, with a curriculum 

extending beyond technical training to include the Liberal Arts and a Department of Negro 

History, was a physical eulogy to that voice. 
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Designing a Campus for African-American Females:  

The National Training School for Women and Girls 1909 – 1964 

 

Postscript 

 

In 1962, the Progressive Baptist National Convention split from the National 

Baptist Convention, Inc., and acquired the National Training School site. In 1964, the 

National Trade and Professional School closed and a private Baptist elementary school 

named after Burroughs opened in its place (although the elementary school claims an 

unbroken lineage from the middle/high/junior college school). It is not clear when the 

buildings from the earliest period of the school’s history were torn down. In photographs 

the dormitory appears almost to touch the back of Burdette home, so that structure could 

not have been meant to stand long after the construction of the dormitory.  

The erection and dedication of a $1 million24 building (Images 54 - 57) for the 

elementary school on the former site of Walker Hall took place from 1971-5. The 1927 

Trades Hall now serves as the National Baptist Convention Headquarters. The 1940’s 

chapel remains and the 1956 dormitory is now a community center. In 1975, May 10 was 

declared "Nannie Helen Burroughs Day" in Washington, DC. In 1976, Deane Avenue and 

the portion of Grant Street fronting the school were renamed Nannie Helen Burroughs 

Avenue. 

Nannie Helen Burroughs Elementary School is proud of its connection to the 

founder of the National Training School, but it does not actually appear to be aware of 

much of the school’s history. The museum room in the elementary school displays objects 

from the National Training School, but very little actual information about the school. 
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Pictures of the former campus are displayed in the gymnasium, but again there is little 

awareness of the physical history that has been lost. Brochures and placards detailing this 

history should be placed in the museum room. The Trades Hall (Progressive National 

Baptist Convention headquarters) was placed on the National Register of Historic Places in 

1991. There is a plaque on the exterior of the building stating this, but nothing about what 

was actually significant about the building and the school. The National Register 

nomination form claims that the National Training School was the first school in American 

history to offer high school and junior college classes, religious instruction, and training in 

domestic arts and vocations all within one school. This claim cannot be substantiated by 

other sources, but the National Training School is significant for being the first school for 

African American females to open outside of the deep south, for not being co-educational, 

for not relying on white benefactors for most of its funding, and for extending it’s 

curriculum beyond technical training to include a Department of Negro History.  

The history listed on the school’s website (www.nhburroughs.org/) is very sparse, 

and mostly focuses on how Ms. Burroughs combined “qualitative vocational training with 

traditional Christian values”.25 The history on the school’s website could be expanded to 

include the reasons for the schools significance listed above, and the history of the National 

Training School could be incorporated into history classes taught at Nannie Helen 

Burroughs elementary school. A model of the campus in former times could be included 

with the artifacts on display in the museum room. Installing a historical placard where the 

school’s property meets Nannie Helen Burroughs Avenue to display some of the school’s 

history to the public would reconnect the Nannie Helen Burroughs Elementary School to 

the Lincoln Heights neighborhood, as the National Training School did in it’s time. 
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Another way to raise awareness about Burroughs and the National Training School’s legacy 

would be for Nannie Helen Burroughs elementary school to work with public elementary 

schools in the neighborhood to hold an essay/video/poster contest about the history of the 

neighborhood. These suggestions are offered to enable the school and community to better 

embrace their significant past, and the founder who made that history a reality. 

                                                
1 Yearly dismissal, cited Taylor, 1998, p.143 
2 Horowitz, 1993, p.182 
3 Horowitz, 1993, p.16 
4 from F.D. Power, Life of William Kimbrough Pendleton, St. Louis, 1902, p. 50, quoted by Turner, 
1995, p. 117 
5 McClusky, 1997, p.404 
6 Gordon, Ch. 27, 1995, p. 464 
7 Horowitz, 1993, p.160. Senda Berenson first devised a women’s version of basketball for Smith 
College in 1892 and it quickly spread to other colleges. 
8 Easter, 1995, p. 62 
9 Taylor, 1998, p.31 
10 Burroughs’ response to the NBC’s Auditor’s report of 1916 questioning the finances of NTS, 
p.4, Burroughs Papers, Container 310 or 311 
11 Notes from Trustees meeting, 2 June 1917, cited in Taylor, 1998, p.67 
12 NBC Secretary R.B. Hudson and President L.K. Williams, 29 January 1924, Burroughs 
Papers, Container 310 or 311 
13 Bylaws in 1925-26 circular of information, Burroughs Papers, Container 310 or 311 
14 New York Age, “Nannie H. Burroughs Discusses the Training School Situation”, 14 January 
1928, cited Taylor, 1998, p.82 
15 Cornelius H. Garlick, Public Accountant & Auditor, Philadephia, Pennsylvania, “Audit Report 
on the National Training School for Women and Girls of Washington, D.C. as of June 30, 
1930”, Burroughs Papers, Container 77 
16 Rosalyn Terborg-Penn, Rosalyn, “Discontented Black Feminists: Prelude and Postscript to 
the Passage of the Nineteenth Amendment”, “We Specialize in the Wholly Impossible”: A Reader in 
Black Women’s History, Ch. 28, edited by Darlene Clark Hine, Wilma King, and Linda Reed, 
Carlson Publishing, Inc, Brooklyn, New York, © 1995, p. 500 
17 Taylor, 1998, p. 66 
18 National Capital Park and Planning Commission, “Annual Report for the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 1928”, Washington, D.C., 1928 
19 Calculated from ArcGIS respresentation of the lots in Watts Branch created by Thomas 
Salaki for ARH 592 Community History Workshop/ ARH 594 Community Public History 
2006-07. 
20 Trades Hall National Register of Historic Places nomination form, Section 8, p. 4 
21 Horowitz, 1993,  p.xix 
22 Taylor, 1998, p.167 
23 Earl Harrison, “Final Rites”, Burroughs Papers, cited in Taylor, 1998, p. 5 
24 From the Nannie Helen Burroughs School website, http://www.nhburroughs.org/ 
25 www.nhburroughs.org/ 
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Appendix: List of Departments from:  
Circular of Information for the Seventeenth Annual Session of the National Training School for 
Women and Girls, Incorporated, Lincoln Heights, Washington D.C., 1925-26, p. 28 
(That document follows).  
 
 
Departments:  

 
Literary 

Elementary 
First Prepatory – Sixth Grade 
Second Prepatory – Seventh Grade 
Junior Normal – Eighth Grade 
 

Secondary 
First Normal – Ninth Grade 
Second Normal – Tenth Grade 
Third Normal – Eleventh Grade 
Fourth Normal – Twelfth Grade 
 

Advanced – Junior College 
Teacher’s Prepatory 
 
 

Trades and Professions 
Missionary Training and Social service 
Practical Nursing 
Domestic Science and Home Economics 
Plain Sewing 
Dressmaking and Tailoring 
Millinery 
Commercial 
Music (Instrumental and Vocal) 
Printing 
Public Speaking 
Beauty Culture 
Gardening 
Laundering 
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Junior High School Curriculum, 1931-32 
 
Laundry Department, date unknown 
 
Lewis A. Johnson Co, Inc, General Repair and Decorating Contractor to Miss Burroughs, 27 
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Maxwell’s Book Shop, 17 October 1932 
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My dear friend “bricks as stocking stuffers” letter from Nannie H. Burroughs, 14 December 
1927 
 
J.A. Moore & Co. Contractors and Builders to Miss N.H. Burroughs, 18 September 1916 
 
Letter to My Dear Friend from Mrs. Murphy, 17 December 1927 
 
Nannie Helen Burroughs answers Charges and Malicious Falsehoods Reported, Printed, and 
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Selected Materials from the National Capital Parks and Planning Commission Collection, 
National Archives and Records Administration 
 
Certificate of Taxes and Title; Part of Lot 34 in Section 5 “Lincoln”; Nannie H. Burroughs, 
Surviving Trustee under Deed in Trust from Peter W. Price and wife, dated 24 July 1907 and 
recorded in Liber 3087 folio 359 of the Land Records of D.C., acting herein in exercise of the 
power vested in her by said Deed in Trust and by the Direction of the Board of Trustees of the 
National Trade and Professional School for Women and Girls, Incorporated (formerly The 
National Training School for Women and Girls), a D.C. Corporation; to United States of 
America, 2 February 1943 
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